
 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 

 
 

       

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

AGENDA 
 
NOTICES TO THE PUBLIC:  (1) This meeting is accessible to the public both in person and, for convenience, via Zoom webinar. The Zoom webinar is accessible to the 
public at https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83556547401. Webinar ID: 835 5654 7401. Anyone unable to attend the Board meeting in person who wishes to make either a 
general public comment or a comment on a specific agenda item may do so by utilizing the Zoom "hand-raising” feature when appropriate during the meeting (the 
Chair will call on those who wish to speak). Generally, speakers are limited to three minutes. Remote participation for members of the public is provided for 
convenience only. In the event that the remote participation connection malfunctions for any reason, the Board of Supervisors reserves the right to conduct the 
meeting without remote access. Regardless of remote access, written public comments, limited to 250 words or fewer, may be emailed to the Assistant Clerk of the 
Board at boardclerk@inyocounty.us. (2) In Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting please 
contact the Clerk of the Board at (760) 878-0373 (28 CFR 35.102-35.104 ADA Title II). Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the County to make 
reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting. Should you because of a disability require appropriate alternative formatting of this agenda, please 
notify the Clerk of the Board 72 hours prior to the meeting to enable the County to make the agenda available in a reasonable alternative format. (Government Code 
Section 54954.2).  (3) If a writing, that is a public record relating to an agenda item for an open session of a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors, is distributed 
less than 72 hours prior to the meeting, the writing shall be available for public inspection at the Office of the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, 224 N. Edwards, 
Independence, California and is available per Government Code § 54957.5(b)(1). 
 

MEMBERS: CAO Nate Greenberg, County Counsel John-Carl Vallejo, Supervisor Scott Marcellin, Supervisor 
Trina Orrill, Auditor-Controller Amy Shepherd, Treasurer-Tax Collector Alisha McMurtrie 
 

April 2, 2024  
 Start Time 

 

 2 P.M. 1) Public Comment  
Comments may be time-limited 

  
 

   

 2) Proposed Public Agencies Post-Employment Benefits Trust 

  Treasurer-Tax Collector | Alisha McMurtrie 
20 minutes (10min. Presentation / 20min. Discussion) 
 

Recommended Action:  Review and make recommendation for the Board of 
Supervisors on the investment strategy for the proposed Public Agencies Post-
Employment Benefits trust administered by Public Agency Retirement Services 
(PARS)  

 

   

  
3) 

 
Disposition of County Property in Laws (Laws Railroad Museum) 

  County Administrator | Nate Greenberg 
30 minutes  
 

Recommended Action:  Discussion of and possible recommendation for the 
Board of Supervisors regarding the disposition of County property in Laws (Laws 
Railroad Museum).  

 

   
4) 

 
Schedule next FAC meeting 

  
 

  5) Adjourn 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

FINANCIAL ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 
Board Chambers,  

County Administrative Center, 
224 N. Edwards St.,  

Independence, CA 93526 
 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83556547401
mailto:boardclerk@inyocounty.us


County of inyo Investment selection  ▎ 1

Investment Selection form



▸ Efficient frontier of portfolios with varying ranges of equities and fixed income, with
active and passive implementation options.

Establish: Determine your Strategic Asset 
Allocation Strategy

2
Each Investment Objective reflects the associated PARS Diversified Portfolio as of 9/30/2023. A client’s portfolio 
construction may vary depending on the client's investment needs, objectives, and restrictions as well as the prevailing 
market conditions at the time of investment. Ranges and allocations subject to change. 

Ex
pe

ct
ed

 R
et

ur
n

Expected Standard Deviation (Volatility)

Conservative

Moderately Conservative

Moderate
Balanced

Capital Appreciation

Equity Fixed 
Income Cash

Conservative 5-20% 60-95% 0-20%
Moderately 
Conservative 20-40% 50-80% 0-20%
Moderate 40-60% 40-60% 0-20%
Balanced 50-70% 30-50% 0-20%
Capital Appreciation 65-85% 10-30% 0-20%



Asset Allocation Summary

3
Representative as of 12/20/2023. Asset allocations and assumptions are subject to change. Please see important disclosures at the end of this 
presentation for additional information. 

PARS 
Conservative

PARS 
Moderately 

Conservative

PARS 
Moderate

PARS 
Balanced

PARS Capital 
Appreciation

Equity 15.0% 30.0% 50.0% 60.0% 75.0%
Domestic Equity 11.5% 23.0% 39.0% 47.0% 57.5%
International Developed Equity 2.0% 4.0% 6.0% 7.0% 10.3%
Emerging Markets Equity 1.0% 2.0% 3.3% 4.0% 5.3%
REITs 0.5% 1.0% 1.8% 2.0% 2.0%
Fixed Income 80.0% 65.0% 45.0% 35.0% 20.0%
Short-Term Bonds 25.8% 14.0% 10.0% 6.8% 3.0%
Core Fixed Income 52.3% 49.3% 33.5% 27.0% 16.0%
High Yield 2.0% 1.8% 1.5% 1.3% 1.0%
Cash 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Intermediate-Term (5 Years)
Expected Return 6.2% 6.7% 7.0% 7.2% 7.5%
Standard Deviation 4.3% 5.9% 8.3% 9.7% 11.9%
Return / Standard Deviation 1.44 1.14 0.84 0.74 0.63
Long-Term (30 Years)
Expected Return 5.0% 5.6% 6.3% 6.6% 7.1%
Standard Deviation 4.3% 5.9% 8.3% 9.7% 11.9%
Return / Standard Deviation 1.17 0.97 0.75 0.68 0.60



Strategy Equity (%) 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years

Capital 
Appreciation 65-85% 17.32% 4.22% 9.71% 7.23%

Balanced 50-70% 15.39% 2.89% 8.25% 6.21%

Moderate 40-60% 13.98% 2.08% 7.17% 5.55%

Moderately 
Conservative 20-40% 11.05% 0.35% 4.95% 4.09%

Conservative 5-20% 8.81% -0.96% 3.30% 3.00%

PARS Diversified Portfolios As of December 31, 2023

ACTIVE PORTFOLIO ANNUALIZED RETURNS ( G ross  of  Investmen t  Managemen t  Fees,  b ut  N et  of  E mb ed d ed  Fund  Fees)
Please see complete  Investment  Strategy  Sheets (enclosed)  for  more information.

Subject to change due to rebalancing; Past performance does not guarantee future results.

The advisor to the PARS portfolios is U.S. Bank, and PFM Asset Management serves as sub-advisor to U.S. Bank to manage these portfolios. Prior to January 1st, 2024, HighMark 
Capital Management, Inc. (“HighMark”) acted as sub-advisor to the PARS portfolios. HighMark, including clients and investment personnel, was consolidated into its affiliate, PFM 
Asset Management LLC (PFMAM) on January 1st, 2024. 

Please see important additional disclosures to the PARS portfolios included in the individual strategy fact sheets at the end of this presentation.

County of inyo Investment selection  ▎ 4



County of inyo Investment selection  ▎ 5

Strategy Allocation* (%)

Capital Appreciation
(65-85% Equity)

6.47%

Balanced
(50-70% Equity)

26.72%

Moderate
(40-60% Equity)

40.52%

Mod. Conservative
(20-40% Equity)

16.38%

Conservative
(5-20% Equity)

1.72%

Other 
(Custom)

8.19%

TOTAL 100.00%

OPEB Strategy Allocation – Clients 

Active Platform: 59% / Passive Platform: 41%

Capital Appreciation
6.47%

Balanced
26.72%

Moderate
40.52%

Moderately 
Conservative

16.38%

Conservative
1.72%

Other
8.19%

As of December 31, 2023

*Allocations are based on agencies who have funded



County of inyo Investment selection  ▎ 6

Strategy Allocation* (%)

Capital Appreciation
(65-85% Equity)

5.79%

Balanced
(50-70% Equity)

10.81%

Moderate
(40-60% Equity)

35.91%

Mod. Conservative
(20-40% Equity)

37.07%

Conservative
(5-20% Equity)

5.41%

Other 
(Custom)

5.02%

TOTAL 100.00%

PRSP Strategy Allocation – Clients 

Capital Appreciation
5.79%

Balanced
10.81%

Moderate
35.91%

Moderately 
Conservative

37.07%

Conservative
5.41%

Other
5.02%

Active Platform: 54% / Passive Platform: 46%

*Allocations are based on agencies who have funded

As of December 31, 2023



For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures 

HighMark Plus (Active)
Composite Inception Date 07/2004
No of Holdings in Portfolio 19

HighMark Plus Composite (Active)
Gross Net

Current Quarter* 7.47% 7.38%
Blended Benchmark*,** 6.27%
Year To Date* 8.81% 8.42%
Blended Benchmark*,** 7.85%
1 Year 8.81% 8.42%
Blended Benchmark** 7.85%
3 Year -0.96% -1.31%
Blended Benchmark** -0.47%
5 Year 3.30% 2.93%
Blended Benchmark** 3.20%
10 Year 3.00% 2.63%
Blended Benchmark** 2.95%

PARS DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIOS
CONSERVATIVE

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE

ANNUAL RETURNS

ASSET ALLOCATION — CONSERVATIVE PORTFOLIO

Comprehensive Investment Solution
HighMark® Capital Management, Inc.’s (HighMark)
diversified investment portfolios are designed to
balance return expectations with risk tolerance.
Key features include: sophisticated asset allocation
and optimization techniques, four layers of 
diversification (asset class, style, manager, and
security), access to rigorously screened, top tier
money managers, flexible investment options, and
experienced investment management.

Rigorous Manager Due Diligence
Our manager review committee utilizes a rigorous
screening process that searches for investment
managers and styles that have not only produced
above-average returns within acceptable risk 
parameters, but have the resources and commitment 
to continue to deliver these results. We have set high 
standards for our investment managers and funds. 
This is a highly specialized, time consuming 
approach dedicated to one goal: competitive and 
consistent performance.

Flexible Investment Options
In order to meet the unique needs of our clients,
we offer access to flexible implementation strategies: 
HighMark Plus utilizes actively managed mutual 
funds while Index Plus utilizes index-based 
securities, including exchange-traded funds. Both 
investment options leverage HighMark’s active asset 
allocation approach.

Risk Management
The portfolio is constructed to control risk through 
four layers of diversification – asset classes (cash, 
fixed income, equity), investment styles (large cap, 
small cap, international, value, growth), managers 
and securities. Disciplined mutual fund selection and 
monitoring process helps to drive return potential 
while reducing portfolio risk.

WHY THE PARS DIVERSIFIED 
CONSERVATIVE PORTFOLIO?

Q4 2023

* Returns less than one year are not annualized. **Breakdown for Blended Benchmark: From 10/1/2012 - Present: 7.5% S&P500, 
1.5% Russell Mid Cap, 2.5% Russell 2000, 1% MSCI EM (net), 2% MSCI EAFE (net), 52.25% Bloomberg US Agg, 25.75% ICE 
BofA 1-3 Yr US Corp/Gov’t, 2% ICE BofA US High Yield Master II, 0.5% Wilshire REIT, and 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. From 
4/1/2007 – 9/30/2012, the blended benchmark was 12% S&P 500; 1% Russell 2000, 2% MSCI EAFE (net), 40% ICE BofA 1-3 Year 
Corp./Govt, 40% Bloomberg US Agg, 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. Prior to April 2007: the blended benchmark was 15% S&P 500, 
40% ICE BofA 1-3Yr Corp/Gov, 40% Bloomberg US Agg, and 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. 

To provide a consistent level of 
inflation-protected income over 
the long-term. The major portion 
of the assets will be fixed income 
related. Equity securities are 
utilized to provide inflation 
protection.

Conservative

Moderately Conservative

Moderate
Balanced

Capital Appreciation

Efficient Frontier

Risk (Standard Deviation)

R
ew

ar
d 

(R
at

e 
of

 R
et

ur
n)

Strategic Range Policy Tactical
Equity 5 – 20% 15% 15%
Fixed Income 60 – 95% 80% 81%
Cash 0 – 20% 5% 4%

ANNUALIZED TOTAL RETURNS (Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of 
Embedded Fund Fees)

Index Plus Composite (Passive)
Gross Net

Current Quarter* 7.24% 7.14%
Blended Benchmark*,** 6.27%
Year To Date* 7.63% 7.25%
Blended Benchmark*,** 7.85%
1 Year 7.63% 7.25%
Blended Benchmark** 7.85%
3 Year -1.17% -1.53%
Blended Benchmark** -0.47%
5 Year 2.95% 2.58%
Blended Benchmark** 3.20%
10 Year 2.72% 2.35%
Blended Benchmark** 2.95%

PORTFOLIO FACTS

Index Plus (Passive)
Composite Inception Date 07/2004
No of Holdings in Portfolio 12

(Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of Embedded 
Fund Fees)

HighMark Plus Composite (Active)
2008 -9.04%
2009 15.59%
2010 8.68%
2011 2.19%
2012 8.45%
2013 3.69%
2014 3.88%
2015 0.29%
2016 4.18%
2017 6.73%
2018 -1.35%
2019 11.05%
2020 9.03%
2021 2.20%
2022 -12.63%
2023 8.81%

Index Plus Composite (Passive)
2008 -6.70%
2009 10.49%
2010 7.67%
2011 3.70%
2012 6.22%
2013 3.40%
2014 4.32%
2015 0.06%
2016 3.75%
2017 5.52%
2018 -1.09%
2019 10.37%
2020 8.56%
2021 1.97%
2022 -12.06%
2023 7.63%



HIGHMARK CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104 
800-582-4734

ABOUT THE ADVISER

HighMark® Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) has 
over 100 years (including predecessor organizations) of 
institutional money management experience with $9.2
billion in assets under management*. HighMark has a 
long term disciplined approach to money management 
and currently manages assets for a wide array of 
clients.

ABOUT THE PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT TEAM

Andrew Brown, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1994
HighMark Tenure: since 1997
Education: MBA, University of Southern California; 
BA, University of Southern California

Salvatore “Tory” Milazzo III, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 2004
HighMark Tenure: since 2014
Education: BA, Colgate University

J. Keith Stribling, CFA ®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1985
HighMark Tenure: since 1995
Education: BA, Stetson University 

Christiane Tsuda
Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2010
Education: BA, International Christian University, Tokyo

Anne Wimmer, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2007
Education: BA, University of California, Santa Barbara

Asset Allocation Committee
Number of Members: 10
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 18

Manager Review Group
Number of Members: 3
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 13

*Assets under management (“AUM”) include assets for which 
HighMark provides continuous and regular supervisory and 
management services. As of 6/1/2023 HighMark previously 
listed Assets under Advisement (“AUA”) are no longer advised 
by HighMark. 

For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures 

The performance records shown represent size-weighted composites of tax exempt accounts that meet the following criteria: 
Accounts are managed by HighMark with full investment authority according to the PARS Conservative active and passive 
objectives.
The adviser to the PARS portfolios is U.S. Bank, and HighMark serves as sub-adviser to U.S. Bank to manage these 
portfolios. U.S. Bank may charge clients as much as 0.60% annual management fee based on a sliding scale. U.S. Bank 
pays HighMark 60% of the annual management fee for assets sub-advised by HighMark under its sub-advisory agreement 
with U.S. Bank. The 0.36% paid to HighMark, as well as other expenses that may be incurred in the management of the 
portfolio, will reduce the portfolio’s returns. Assuming an investment for five years, a 5% annual total return, and an annual 
sub-advisory fee rate of 0.36% deducted from the assets at market at the end of each year, a $10 million initial value would 
grow to $12.53 million after fees (Net-of-Fees) and $12.76 million before fees (Gross-of-Fees). Gross returns are presented 
before management and custodial fees but after all trading expenses and reflect the reinvestment of dividends and other 
income. A client's return will be reduced by the advisory fees and other expenses it may incur as a client. Additional 
information regarding the firm’s policies and procedures for calculating and reporting performance results is available upon 
request. Performance results are calculated and presented in U.S. dollars and do not reflect the deduction of investment 
advisory fees, custody fees, or taxes but do reflect the deduction of trading expenses. Returns are calculated based on trade-
date accounting.
Blended benchmarks represent HighMark’s strategic allocations between equity, fixed income, and cash and are rebalanced 
monthly. Benchmark returns do not reflect the deduction of advisory fees or other expenses of investing but assumes the 
reinvestment of dividends and other earnings. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. The unmanaged S&P 500 Index 
is representative of the performance of large companies in the U.S. stock market. The MSCI EAFE Index is a free float-
adjusted market capitalization index designed to measure developed market equity performance, excluding the U.S. and 
Canada. The MSCI Emerging Markets Index is a free float-adjusted market capitalization index that is designed to measure 
equity market performance in the global emerging markets. The Russell Midcap Index measures the performance of the mid-
cap segment of the U.S. equity universe. The Russell 2000 Index measures the performance of the small-cap segment of the 
U.S. equity universe. The ICE BofA U.S. High Yield Master II Index tracks the performance of below investment grade U.S. 
dollar-denominated corporate bonds publicly issued in the U.S. domestic market. Wilshire REIT Index measures U.S. publicly 
traded Real Estate Investment Trusts. The unmanaged  Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond Index is generally representative of 
the U.S. taxable bond market as a whole. The ICE BofA 1-3 Year U.S. Corporate & Government Index tracks the bond 
performance of the ICE BofA U.S. Corporate & Government Index, with a remaining term to final maturity less than 3 years. 
The unmanaged FTSE 1-Month U.S. Treasury Bill Index tracks the yield of the 1-month U.S. Treasury Bill. 
HighMark Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) is an investment adviser registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission and a subsidiary of U.S. Bank National Association ("U.S. Bank"). U.S. Bank is a separate entity and subsidiary 
of U.S. Bancorp. U.S. Bank is not responsible for and does not guarantee the products, services or performance of HighMark. 
HighMark manages institutional separate account portfolios for a wide variety of for-profit and nonprofit organizations, public 
agencies, and public and private retirement plans. Individual account management and construction will vary depending on 
each client's investment needs and objectives. U.S. Bank provides certain services to HighMark and is compensated for 
these services. Investments employing HighMark strategies are NOT insured by the FDIC or by any other Federal 
Government Agency, are NOT Bank deposits, are NOT guaranteed by the Bank or any Bank affiliate, and MAY lose 
value, including possible loss of principal.

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104
800.582.4734
www.highmarkcapital.com

HOLDINGS

STYLE

Small Cap
2.2%

Interm-Term Bond
74.3%

Mortgage Backed 
Securities

7.1%

Large Cap Core
4.4%

Large Cap Growth
1.5%

Mid Cap
1.6%

Intl Stocks
2.8%

Cash
3.9%

Large Cap Value
1.8%

Real Estate
0.4%

Holdings are subject to change at the 
discretion of the investment manager.

HighMark Plus (Active) Index Plus (Passive)
Columbia Contrarian Core I3 iShares Core S&P 500 ETF
Vanguard Growth & Income Adm iShares S&P 500 Value ETF
Dodge & Cox Stock Fund iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF
iShares S&P 500 Value ETF iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF
Harbor Capital Appreciation - Retirement Vanguard Real Estate ETF
iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF iShares Russell 2000 Value ETF
iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF iShares Russell 2000 Growth ETF
Vanguard Real Estate ETF iShares Core MSCI EAFE ETF
Undiscovered Managers Behavioral Value-R6 Vanguard FTSE Emerging Markets ETF
Emerald Growth Fund-I iShares MBS ETF
DFA Large Cap International Portfolio iShares Core U.S. Aggregate
Dodge & Cox International Stock First American Government Obligations Z
MFS International Growth - R6
Hartford Schroders Emerging Markets Eq
iShares MBS ETF
Dodge & Cox Income-I
PGIM Total Return Bond - R6
DoubleLine Core Fixed Income - I
First American Government Obligations Z



For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures 

HighMark Plus (Active)
Composite Inception Date 08/2004
No of Holdings in Portfolio 19

PARS DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIOS
MODERATELY CONSERVATIVE

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE

ANNUAL RETURNS

ASSET ALLOCATION — MODERATELY CONSERVATIVE PORTFOLIO

Comprehensive Investment Solution
HighMark® Capital Management, Inc.’s (HighMark)
diversified investment portfolios are designed to
balance return expectations with risk tolerance.
Key features include: sophisticated asset allocation
and optimization techniques, four layers of 
diversification (asset class, style, manager, and
security), access to rigorously screened, top tier
money managers, flexible investment options, and
experienced investment management.

Rigorous Manager Due Diligence
Our manager review committee utilizes a rigorous
screening process that searches for investment
managers and styles that have not only produced
above-average returns within acceptable risk 
parameters, but have the resources and commitment 
to continue to deliver these results. We have set high 
standards for our investment managers and funds. 
This is a highly specialized, time consuming 
approach dedicated to one goal: competitive and 
consistent performance.

Flexible Investment Options
In order to meet the unique needs of our clients,
we offer access to flexible implementation strategies: 
HighMark Plus utilizes actively managed mutual 
funds while Index Plus utilizes index-based 
securities, including exchange-traded funds. Both 
investment options leverage HighMark’s active asset 
allocation approach.

Risk Management
The portfolio is constructed to control risk through 
four layers of diversification – asset classes (cash, 
fixed income, equity), investment styles (large cap, 
small cap, international, value, growth), managers 
and securities. Disciplined mutual fund selection and 
monitoring process helps to drive return potential 
while reducing portfolio risk.

WHY THE PARS DIVERSIFIED 
MODERATELY CONSERVATIVE PORTFOLIO?

Q4 2023

* Returns less than one year are not annualized. **Breakdown for Blended Benchmark: From 10/1/2012 - Present: 15.5% S&P500, 
3% Russell Mid Cap, 4.5% Russell 2000, 2% MSCI EM (net), 4% MSCI EAFE (net), 49.25% Bloomberg US Agg, 14% ICE BofA 1-
3 Yr US Corp/Gov’t, 1.75% ICE BofA US High Yield Master II, 1% Wilshire REIT, and 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. From 4/1/2007 - 
9/30/2012: the blended benchmark was 25% S&P 500; 1.5% Russell 2000, 3.5% MSCI EAFE (net), 25% ICE BofA 1-3 Year 
Corp./Govt, 40% Bloomberg US Agg, 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. Prior to April 2007, the blended benchmark was 30% S&P 500, 
25% ICE BofA 1-3Yr Corp/Gov, 40% Bloomberg US Agg, and 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. 

To provide current income, with 
capital appreciation as a 
secondary objective. The major 
portion of the assets is committed 
to income-producing securities. 
Market fluctuations should be 
expected.

Strategic Range Policy Tactical
Equity 20 - 40% 30% 29%
Fixed Income 50 - 80% 65% 67%
Cash 0 - 20% 5% 4%

ANNUALIZED TOTAL RETURNS (Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of 
Embedded Fund Fees)

HighMark Plus Composite (Active)
Gross Net

Current Quarter* 8.24% 8.14%
Blended Benchmark*,** 7.52%
Year To Date* 11.05% 10.66%
Blended Benchmark*,** 10.30%
1 Year 11.05% 10.66%
Blended Benchmark** 10.30%
3 Year 0.35% -0.01%
Blended Benchmark** 0.66%
5 Year 4.95% 4.57%
Blended Benchmark** 4.94%
10 Year 4.09% 3.72%
Blended Benchmark** 4.21%

Index Plus Composite (Passive)
Gross Net

Current Quarter* 8.02% 7.93%
Blended Benchmark*,** 7.52%
Year To Date* 9.89% 9.50%
Blended Benchmark*,** 10.30%
1 Year 9.89% 9.50%
Blended Benchmark** 10.30%
3 Year 0.23% -0.13%
Blended Benchmark** 0.66%
5 Year 4.64% 4.27%
Blended Benchmark** 4.94%
10 Year 3.92% 3.55%
Blended Benchmark** 4.21%

PORTFOLIO FACTS

Index Plus (Passive)
Composite Inception Date 05/2005
No of Holdings in Portfolio 12

Efficient Frontier

Risk (Standard Deviation)

R
ew

ar
d 

(R
at

e 
of

 R
et

ur
n)

Conservative

Moderately Conservative

Moderate

Capital Appreciation
Balanced

(Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of Embedded 
Fund Fees)

HighMark Plus Composite (Active)
2008 -15.37%
2009 18.71%
2010 10.46%
2011 1.75%
2012 10.88%
2013 7.30%
2014 4.41%
2015 0.32%
2016 4.94%
2017 9.56%
2018 -2.60%
2019 13.73%
2020 10.76%
2021 5.15%
2022 -13.46%
2023 11.05%

Index Plus Composite (Passive)
2008 -12.40%
2009 11.92%
2010 9.72%
2011 3.24%
2012 8.24%
2013 6.78%
2014 5.40%
2015 -0.18%
2016 5.42%
2017 8.08%
2018 -2.33%
2019 13.53%
2020 9.74%
2021 5.33%
2022 -13.00%
2023 9.89%



HIGHMARK CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104 
800-582-4734

ABOUT THE ADVISER

HighMark® Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) has 
over 100 years (including predecessor organizations) of 
institutional money management experience with $9.2
billion in assets under management*. HighMark has a 
long term disciplined approach to money management 
and currently manages assets for a wide array of 
clients.

ABOUT THE PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT TEAM

Andrew Brown, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1994
HighMark Tenure: since 1997
Education: MBA, University of Southern California; 
BA, University of Southern California

Salvatore “Tory” Milazzo III, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 2004
HighMark Tenure: since 2014
Education: BA, Colgate University

J. Keith Stribling, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1985
HighMark Tenure: since 1995
Education: BA, Stetson University 

Christiane Tsuda
Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2010
Education: BA, International Christian University, Tokyo

Anne Wimmer, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2007
Education: BA, University of California, Santa Barbara

Asset Allocation Committee
Number of Members: 10
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 18

Manager Review Group
Number of Members: 3
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 13

*Assets under management (“AUM”) include assets for which 
HighMark provides continuous and regular supervisory and 
management services. As of 6/1/2023 HighMark previously 
listed Assets under Advisement (“AUA”) are no longer advised 
by HighMark. 

For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures 

The performance records shown represent a size-weighted composite of tax exempt accounts that meet the following 
criteria: Accounts are managed by HighMark with full investment authority according to the PARS Moderately 
Conservative active and passive objectives.
The adviser to the PARS portfolios is U.S. Bank, and HighMark serves as sub-adviser to U.S. Bank to manage these 
portfolios. U.S. Bank may charge clients as much as 0.60% annual management fee based on a sliding scale. U.S. Bank 
pays HighMark 60% of the annual management fee for assets sub-advised by HighMark under its sub-advisory 
agreement with U.S. Bank. The 0.36% paid to HighMark, as well as other expenses that may be incurred in the 
management of the portfolio, will reduce the portfolio’s returns. Assuming an investment for five years, a 5% annual total 
return, and an annual sub-advisory fee rate of 0.36% deducted from the assets at market at the end of each year, a $10 
million initial value would grow to $12.53 million after fees (Net-of-Fees) and $12.76 million before fees (Gross-of-Fees). 
Gross returns are presented before management and custodial fees but after all trading expenses and reflect the 
reinvestment of dividends and other income. A client's return will be reduced by the advisory fees and other expenses it 
may incur as a client. Additional information regarding the firm’s policies and procedures for calculating and reporting 
performance results is available upon request. Performance results are calculated and presented in U.S. dollars and do 
not reflect the deduction of investment advisory fees, custody fees, or taxes but do reflect the deduction of trading 
expenses. Returns are calculated based on trade-date accounting.
Blended benchmarks represent HighMark’s strategic allocations between equity, fixed income, and cash and are 
rebalanced monthly. Benchmark returns do not reflect the deduction of advisory fees or other expenses of investing but 
assumes the reinvestment of dividends and other earnings. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. The 
unmanaged S&P 500 Index is representative of the performance of large companies in the U.S. stock market. The MSCI 
EAFE Index is a free float-adjusted market capitalization index designed to measure developed market equity 
performance, excluding the U.S. and Canada. The MSCI Emerging Markets Index is a free float-adjusted market 
capitalization index that is designed to measure equity market performance in the global emerging markets. The Russell 
Midcap Index measures the performance of the mid-cap segment of the U.S. equity universe. The Russell 2000 Index 
measures the performance of the small-cap segment of the U.S. equity universe. The ICE BofA U.S. High Yield Master II 
Index tracks the performance of below investment grade U.S. dollar-denominated corporate bonds publicly issued in the 
U.S. domestic market. Wilshire REIT index measures U.S. publicly traded Real Estate Investment Trusts. The unmanaged  
Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond Index is generally representative of the U.S. taxable bond market as a whole. The ICE 
BofA 1-3 Year U.S. Corporate & Government Index tracks the bond performance of the ICE BofA U.S. Corporate & 
Government Index, with a remaining term to final maturity less than 3 years. The unmanaged FTSE 1-Month U.S. 
Treasury Bill Index tracks the yield of the 1-month U.S. Treasury Bill. 
HighMark Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) is an investment adviser registered with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission and a subsidiary of U.S. Bank National Association ("U.S. Bank"). U.S. Bank is a separate entity 
and subsidiary of U.S. Bancorp. U.S. Bank is not responsible for and does not guarantee the products, services or 
performance of HighMark. HighMark manages institutional separate account portfolios for a wide variety of for-profit and 
nonprofit organizations, public agencies, and public and private retirement plans. Individual account management and 
construction will vary depending on each client's investment needs and objectives. U.S. Bank provides certain services to 
HighMark and is compensated for these services. Investments employing HighMark strategies are NOT insured by 
the FDIC or by any other Federal Government Agency, are NOT Bank deposits, are NOT guaranteed by the Bank 
or any Bank affiliate, and MAY lose value, including possible loss of principal.

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104
800.582.4734
www.highmarkcapital.com

HOLDINGS

STYLE

Small Cap 4.0%

Interm-Term Bond
61.0%

Mortgage Backed 
Securities 5.9%

Large Cap Core
8.5%

Large Cap Growth
3.2%

Mid Cap 3.3%

Intl Stocks 5.9%
Cash 3.7%

Large Cap Value
3.6%

Real Estate 0.9%

Holdings are subject to change at the 
discretion of the investment manager.

HighMark Plus (Active) Index Plus (Passive)
Columbia Contrarian Core I3 iShares Core S&P 500 ETF
Vanguard Growth & Income Adm iShares S&P 500 Value ETF
Dodge & Cox Stock Fund iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF
iShares S&P 500 Value ETF iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF
Harbor Capital Appreciation - Retirement Vanguard Real Estate ETF
iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF iShares Russell 2000 Value ETF
iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF iShares Russell 2000 Growth ETF
Vanguard Real Estate ETF iShares Core MSCI EAFE ETF
Undiscovered Managers Behavioral Value-R6 Vanguard FTSE Emerging Markets ETF
Emerald Growth Fund-I iShares MBS ETF
DFA Large Cap International Portfolio iShares Core U.S. Aggregate
Dodge & Cox International Stock First American Government Obligations Z
MFS International Growth - R6
Hartford Schroders Emerging Markets Eq
iShares MBS ETF
Dodge & Cox Income-I
PGIM Total Return Bond - R6
DoubleLine Core Fixed Income - I
First American Government Obligations Z



For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures 

PARS DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIOS
MODERATE

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE

ANNUAL RETURNS

ASSET ALLOCATION — MODERATE PORTFOLIO

Comprehensive Investment Solution
HighMark® Capital Management, Inc.’s (HighMark)
diversified investment portfolios are designed to
balance return expectations with risk tolerance.
Key features include: sophisticated asset allocation
and optimization techniques, four layers of 
diversification (asset class, style, manager, and
security), access to rigorously screened, top tier
money managers, flexible investment options, and
experienced investment management.

Rigorous Manager Due Diligence
Our manager review committee utilizes a rigorous
screening process that searches for investment
managers and styles that have not only produced
above-average returns within acceptable risk 
parameters, but have the resources and commitment 
to continue to deliver these results. We have set high 
standards for our investment managers and funds. 
This is a highly specialized, time consuming 
approach dedicated to one goal: competitive and 
consistent performance.

Flexible Investment Options
In order to meet the unique needs of our clients,
we offer access to flexible implementation strategies: 
HighMark Plus utilizes actively managed mutual 
funds while Index Plus utilizes index-based 
securities, including exchange-traded funds. Both 
investment options leverage HighMark’s active asset 
allocation approach.

Risk Management
The portfolio is constructed to control risk through 
four layers of diversification – asset classes (cash, 
fixed income, equity), investment styles (large cap, 
small cap, international, value, growth), managers 
and securities. Disciplined mutual fund selection and 
monitoring process helps to drive return potential 
while reducing portfolio risk.

WHY THE PARS DIVERSIFIED 
MODERATE PORTFOLIO?

Q4 2023

* Returns less than one year are not annualized. **Breakdown for Blended Benchmark: From 10/1/2012 – Present: 26.5% S&P500, 5% 
Russell Mid Cap, 7.5% Russell 2000, 3.25% MSCI EM (net), 6% MSCI EAFE (net), 33.50% Bloomberg US Agg, 10% ICE BofA 1-3 
Yr US Corp/Gov’t, 1.50% ICE BofA US High Yield Master II, 1.75% Wilshire REIT, and 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. From 4/1/2007 – 
9/30/2012: the blended benchmark was 43% S&P 500; 2% Russell 2000, 5% MSCI EAFE (net), 15% ICE BofA 1-3 Year Corp./Govt, 
30% Bloomberg US Agg, 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. Prior to April 2007: the blended benchmark was 50% S&P 500, 15% ICE BofA 1-
3Yr Corp/Gov, 30% Bloomberg US Agg, and 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. 

To provide current income and 
moderate capital appreciation.    
It is expected that dividend and 
interest income will comprise a 
significant portion of total return, 
although growth through capital 
appreciation is equally important.

Strategic Range Policy Tactical
Equity 40 - 60% 50% 49%
Fixed Income 40 - 60% 45% 48%
Cash 0 - 20% 5% 3%

ANNUALIZED TOTAL RETURNS (Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of 
Embedded Fund Fees)

Index Plus Composite (Passive)
Gross Net

Current Quarter* 9.01% 8.91%
Blended Benchmark*,** 8.72%
Year To Date* 12.74% 12.33%
Blended Benchmark*,** 13.56%
1 Year 12.74% 12.33%
Blended Benchmark** 13.56%
3 Year 2.14% 1.77%
Blended Benchmark** 2.58%
5 Year 6.85% 6.47%
Blended Benchmark** 7.31%
10 Year 5.34% 4.96%
Blended Benchmark** 5.82%

PORTFOLIO FACTS
HighMark Plus (Active)
Composite Inception Date 10/2004
No of Holdings in Portfolio 19

Index Plus (Passive)
Composite Inception Date 05/2006
No of Holdings in Portfolio 12

Efficient Frontier

Risk (Standard Deviation)

R
ew

ar
d 

(R
at

e 
of

 R
et

ur
n)

Conservative

Moderately Conservative

Moderate

Capital Appreciation
Balanced

(Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of Embedded 
Fund Fees)

HighMark Plus Composite (Active)
2008 -22.88%
2009 21.47%
2010 12.42%
2011 0.55%
2012 12.25%
2013 13.06%
2014 4.84%
2015 0.14%
2016 6.45%
2017 13.19%
2018 -4.03%
2019 17.71%
2020 12.92%
2021 9.31%
2022 -14.63%
2023 13.98%

Index Plus Composite (Passive)
2008 -18.14%
2009 16.05%
2010 11.77%
2011 2.29%
2012 10.91%
2013 12.79%
2014 5.72%
2015 -0.52%
2016 7.23%
2017 11.59%
2018 -4.03%
2019 17.52%
2020 11.23%
2021 10.18%
2022 -14.21%
2023 12.74%

HighMark Plus Composite (Active)
Gross Net

Current Quarter* 9.28% 9.18%
Blended Benchmark*,** 8.72%
Year To Date* 13.98% 13.57%
Blended Benchmark*,** 13.56%
1 Year 13.98% 13.57%
Blended Benchmark** 13.56%
3 Year 2.08% 1.71%
Blended Benchmark** 2.58%
5 Year 7.17% 6.79%
Blended Benchmark** 7.31%
10 Year 5.55% 5.17%
Blended Benchmark** 5.82%



HIGHMARK CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104 
800-582-4734

ABOUT THE ADVISER

HighMark® Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) has 
over 100 years (including predecessor organizations) of 
institutional money management experience with $9.2
billion in assets under management*. HighMark has a 
long term disciplined approach to money management 
and currently manages assets for a wide array of 
clients.

ABOUT THE PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT TEAM

Andrew Brown, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1994
HighMark Tenure: since 1997
Education: MBA, University of Southern California; 
BA, University of Southern California

Salvatore “Tory” Milazzo III, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 2004
HighMark Tenure: since 2014
Education: BA, Colgate University

J. Keith Stribling, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1985
HighMark Tenure: since 1995
Education: BA, Stetson University 

Christiane Tsuda
Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2010
Education: BA, International Christian University, Tokyo

Anne Wimmer, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2007
Education: BA, University of California, Santa Barbara

Asset Allocation Committee
Number of Members: 10
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 18

Manager Review Group
Number of Members: 3
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 13

*Assets under management (“AUM”) include assets for which 
HighMark provides continuous and regular supervisory and 
management services. As of 6/1/2023 HighMark previously 
listed Assets under Advisement (“AUA”) are no longer advised 
by HighMark. 

For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures 

The performance records shown represent size-weighted composites of tax exempt accounts that meet the following 
criteria: Accounts are managed by HighMark with full investment authority according to the PARS Moderate active and 
passive objectives.
The adviser to the PARS portfolios is U.S. Bank, and HighMark serves as sub-adviser to U.S. Bank to manage these 
portfolios. U.S. Bank may charge clients as much as 0.60% annual management fee based on a sliding scale. U.S. Bank 
pays HighMark 60% of the annual management fee for assets sub-advised by HighMark under its sub-advisory agreement 
with U.S. Bank. The 0.36% paid to HighMark, as well as other expenses that may be incurred in the management of the 
portfolio, will reduce the portfolio’s returns. Assuming an investment for five years, a 5% annual total return, and an annual 
sub-advisory fee rate of 0.36% deducted from the assets at market at the end of each year, a $10 million initial value would 
grow to $12.53 million after fees (Net-of-Fees) and $12.76 million before fees (Gross-of-Fees). Gross returns are presented 
before management and custodial fees but after all trading expenses and reflect the reinvestment of dividends and other 
income. A client's return will be reduced by the advisory fees and other expenses it may incur as a client. Additional 
information regarding the firm’s policies and procedures for calculating and reporting performance results is available upon 
request. Performance results are calculated and presented in U.S. dollars and do not reflect the deduction of investment 
advisory fees, custody fees, or taxes but do reflect the deduction of trading expenses. Returns are calculated based on 
trade-date accounting.
Blended benchmarks represent HighMark’s strategic allocations between equity, fixed income, and cash and are 
rebalanced monthly. Benchmark returns do not reflect the deduction of advisory fees or other expenses of investing but 
assumes the reinvestment of dividends and other earnings. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. The unmanaged 
S&P 500 Index is representative of the performance of large companies in the U.S. stock market. The MSCI EAFE Index is 
a free float-adjusted market capitalization index designed to measure developed market equity performance, excluding the 
U.S. and Canada. The MSCI Emerging Markets Index is a free float-adjusted market capitalization index that is designed to 
measure equity market performance in the global emerging markets. The Russell Midcap Index measures the performance 
of the mid-cap segment of the U.S. equity universe. The Russell 2000 Index measures the performance of the small-cap 
segment of the U.S. equity universe. The ICE BofA U.S. High Yield Master II Index tracks the performance of below 
investment grade U.S. dollar-denominated corporate bonds publicly issued in the U.S. domestic market. Wilshire REIT 
index measures U.S. publicly traded Real Estate Investment Trusts. The unmanaged  Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond 
Index is generally representative of the U.S. taxable bond market as a whole. The ICE BofA 1-3 Year U.S. Corporate & 
Government Index tracks the bond performance of the ICE BofA U.S. Corporate & Government Index, with a remaining 
term to final maturity less than 3 years. The unmanaged FTSE 1-Month U.S. Treasury Bill Index tracks the yield of the 1-
month U.S. Treasury Bill. 
HighMark Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) is an investment adviser registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission and a subsidiary of U.S. Bank National Association ("U.S. Bank"). U.S. Bank is a separate entity and 
subsidiary of U.S. Bancorp. U.S. Bank is not responsible for and does not guarantee the products, services or performance 
of HighMark. HighMark manages institutional separate account portfolios for a wide variety of for-profit and nonprofit 
organizations, public agencies, and public and private retirement plans. Individual account management and construction 
will vary depending on each client's investment needs and objectives. U.S. Bank provides certain services to HighMark and 
is compensated for these services. Investments employing HighMark strategies are NOT insured by the FDIC or by 
any other Federal Government Agency, are NOT Bank deposits, are NOT guaranteed by the Bank or any Bank 
affiliate, and MAY lose value, including possible loss of principal.

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104
800.582.4734
www.highmarkcapital.com

HOLDINGS

STYLE
Small Cap

6.6%

Interm-Term Bond
43.4%

Mortgage Backed Securities
4.2%

Large Cap Core
14.6%

Large Cap Growth
5.4%

Mid Cap
5.4%

Intl Stocks
9.4%

Cash
3.2%

Large Cap Value
6.2%

Real Estate
1.6%

Holdings are subject to change at the 
discretion of the investment manager.

HighMark Plus (Active) Index Plus (Passive)
Columbia Contrarian Core I3 iShares Core S&P 500 ETF
Vanguard Growth & Income Adm iShares S&P 500 Value ETF
Dodge & Cox Stock Fund iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF
iShares S&P 500 Value ETF iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF
Harbor Capital Appreciation - Retirement Vanguard Real Estate ETF
iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF iShares Russell 2000 Value ETF
iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF iShares Russell 2000 Growth ETF
Vanguard Real Estate ETF iShares Core MSCI EAFE ETF
Undiscovered Managers Behavioral Value-R6 Vanguard FTSE Emerging Markets ETF
Emerald Growth Fund-I iShares MBS ETF
DFA Large Cap International Portfolio iShares Core U.S. Aggregate
Dodge & Cox International Stock First American Government Obligations Z
MFS International Growth - R6
Hartford Schroders Emerging Markets Eq
iShares MBS ETF
Dodge & Cox Income-I
PGIM Total Return Bond - R6
DoubleLine Core Fixed Income - I
First American Government Obligations Z



For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures 

HighMark Plus (Active)
Composite Inception Date 10/2006
No of Holdings in Portfolio 19

PARS DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIOS
BALANCED

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE

ANNUAL RETURNS

ASSET ALLOCATION — BALANCED PORTFOLIO

Comprehensive Investment Solution
HighMark® Capital Management, Inc.’s (HighMark)
diversified investment portfolios are designed to
balance return expectations with risk tolerance.
Key features include: sophisticated asset allocation
and optimization techniques, four layers of 
diversification (asset class, style, manager, and
security), access to rigorously screened, top tier
money managers, flexible investment options, and
experienced investment management.

Rigorous Manager Due Diligence
Our manager review committee utilizes a rigorous
screening process that searches for investment
managers and styles that have not only produced
above-average returns within acceptable risk 
parameters, but have the resources and commitment 
to continue to deliver these results. We have set high 
standards for our investment managers and funds. 
This is a highly specialized, time consuming 
approach dedicated to one goal: competitive and 
consistent performance.

Flexible Investment Options
In order to meet the unique needs of our clients,
we offer access to flexible implementation strategies: 
HighMark Plus utilizes actively managed mutual 
funds while Index Plus utilizes index-based 
securities, including exchange-traded funds. Both 
investment options leverage HighMark’s active asset 
allocation approach.

Risk Management
The portfolio is constructed to control risk through 
four layers of diversification – asset classes (cash, 
fixed income, equity), investment styles (large cap, 
small cap, international, value, growth), managers 
and securities. Disciplined mutual fund selection and 
monitoring process helps to drive return potential 
while reducing portfolio risk.

WHY THE PARS DIVERSIFIED 
BALANCED PORTFOLIO?

Q4 2023

* Returns less than one year are not annualized. **Breakdown for Blended Benchmark: From 10/1/2012 – Present: 32% S&P500, 6% 
Russell Mid Cap, 9% Russell 2000, 4% MSCI EM (net), 7% MSCI EAFE (net), 27% Bloomberg US Agg, 6.75% ICE BofA 1-3 Yr US 
Corp/Gov’t, 1.25% ICE BofA US High Yield Master II, 2% Wilshire REIT, and 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. From 4/1/2007 – 9/30/2012: 
the blended benchmark was 51% S&P 500; 3% Russell 2000, 6% MSCI EAFE (net), 5% ICE BofA 1-3 Year Corp./Govt, 30% 
Bloomberg US Agg, 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. Prior to April 2007: the blended benchmark was 60% S&P 500, 5% ICE BofA 1-3Yr 
Corp/Gov, 30% Bloomberg US Agg, and 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill.

To provide growth of principal and 
income. While dividend and 
interest income are an important 
component of the objective’s 
total return, it is expected that 
capital appreciation will comprise 
a larger portion of the total return.

Strategic Range Policy Tactical
Equity 50 – 70% 60% 59%
Fixed Income 30 – 50% 35% 38%
Cash 0 – 20% 5% 3%

ANNUALIZED TOTAL RETURNS (Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of 
Embedded Fund Fees)

HighMark Plus Composite (Active)
Gross Net

Current Quarter* 9.84% 9.75%
Blended Benchmark*,** 9.36%
Year To Date* 15.39% 14.98%
Blended Benchmark*,** 15.19%
1 Year 15.39% 14.98%
Blended Benchmark** 15.19%
3 Year 2.89% 2.53%
Blended Benchmark** 3.46%
5 Year 8.25% 7.86%
Blended Benchmark** 8.45%
10 Year 6.21% 5.83%
Blended Benchmark** 6.61%

Index Plus Composite (Passive)
Gross Net

Current Quarter* 9.60% 9.50%
Blended Benchmark*,** 9.36%
Year To Date* 14.31% 13.91%
Blended Benchmark*,** 15.19%
1 Year 14.31% 13.91%
Blended Benchmark** 15.19%
3 Year 3.06% 2.69%
Blended Benchmark** 3.46%
5 Year 7.97% 7.58%
Blended Benchmark** 8.45%
10 Year 6.05% 5.67%
Blended Benchmark** 6.61%

PORTFOLIO FACTS

Index Plus (Passive)
Composite Inception Date 10/2007
No of Holdings in Portfolio 12

Efficient Frontier

Risk (Standard Deviation)

R
ew

ar
d 

(R
at

e 
of

 R
et

ur
n)

Conservative

Moderately Conservative

Moderate

Capital Appreciation
Balanced

(Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of Embedded 
Fund Fees)

HighMark Plus Composite (Active)
2008 -25.72%
2009 21.36%
2010 14.11%
2011 -0.46%
2012 13.25%
2013 16.61%
2014 4.70%
2015 0.04%
2016 6.81%
2017 15.46%
2018 -4.88%
2019 19.85%
2020 13.85%
2021 11.44%
2022 -15.28%
2023 15.39%

Index Plus Composite (Passive)
2008 -23.22%
2009 17.62%
2010 12.76%
2011 1.60%
2012 11.93%
2013 15.63%
2014 6.08%
2015 -0.81%
2016 8.26%
2017 13.39%
2018 -5.05%
2019 19.59%
2020 12.07%
2021 12.63%
2022 -14.97%
2023 14.31%



HIGHMARK CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104 
800-582-4734

ABOUT THE ADVISER
HighMark® Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) has 
over 100 years (including predecessor organizations) of 
institutional money management experience with $9.2
billion in assets under management*. HighMark has a 
long term disciplined approach to money management 
and currently manages assets for a wide array of 
clients.

ABOUT THE PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT TEAM

Andrew Brown, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1994
HighMark Tenure: since 1997
Education: MBA, University of Southern California; 
BA, University of Southern California

Salvatore “Tory” Milazzo III, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 2004
HighMark Tenure: since 2014
Education: BA, Colgate University

J. Keith Stribling, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1985
HighMark Tenure: since 1995
Education: BA, Stetson University 

Christiane Tsuda
Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2010
Education: BA, International Christian University, Tokyo

Anne Wimmer, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2007
Education: BA, University of California, Santa Barbara

Asset Allocation Committee
Number of Members: 10
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 18

Manager Review Group
Number of Members: 3
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 13

*Assets under management (“AUM”) include assets for which 
HighMark provides continuous and regular supervisory and 
management services. As of 6/1/2023 HighMark previously 
listed Assets under Advisement (“AUA”) are no longer advised 
by HighMark. 

For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures

The performance records shown represent size-weighted composites of tax exempt accounts that meet the following criteria: 
Accounts are managed by HighMark with full investment authority according to the PARS Balanced active and passive 
objectives.
The composite name has been changed from PARS Balanced/Moderately Aggressive to PARS Balanced on 5/1/2013. The 
adviser to the PARS portfolios is U.S. Bank, and HighMark serves as sub-adviser to U.S. Bank to manage these portfolios. 
U.S. Bank may charge clients as much as 0.60% annual management fee based on a sliding scale. U.S. Bank pays 
HighMark 60% of the annual management fee for assets sub-advised by HighMark under its sub-advisory agreement with 
U.S. Bank. The 0.36% paid to HighMark, as well as other expenses that may be incurred in the management of the portfolio, 
will reduce the portfolio’s returns. Assuming an investment for five years, a 5% annual total return, and an annual sub-
advisory fee rate of 0.36% deducted from the assets at market at the end of each year, a $10 million initial value would grow 
to $12.53 million after fees (Net-of-Fees) and $12.76 million before fees (Gross-of-Fees). Gross returns are presented before 
management and custodial fees but after all trading expenses and reflect the reinvestment of dividends and other income. A 
client's return will be reduced by the advisory fees and other expenses it may incur as a client. Additional information 
regarding the firm’s policies and procedures for calculating and reporting performance results is available upon request. 
Performance results are calculated and presented in U.S. dollars and do not reflect the deduction of investment advisory 
fees, custody fees, or taxes but do reflect the deduction of trading expenses. Returns are calculated based on trade-date 
accounting.
Blended benchmarks represent HighMark’s strategic allocations between equity, fixed income, and cash and are rebalanced 
monthly. Benchmark returns do not reflect the deduction of advisory fees or other expenses of investing but assumes the 
reinvestment of dividends and other earnings. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. The unmanaged S&P 500 Index 
is representative of the performance of large companies in the U.S. stock market. The MSCI EAFE Index is a free float-
adjusted market capitalization index designed to measure developed market equity performance, excluding the U.S. and 
Canada. The MSCI Emerging Markets Index is a free float-adjusted market capitalization index that is designed to measure 
equity market performance in the global emerging markets. The Russell Midcap Index measures the performance of the mid-
cap segment of the U.S. equity universe. The Russell 2000 Index measures the performance of the small-cap segment of the 
U.S. equity universe. The ICE BofA U.S. High Yield Master II Index tracks the performance of below investment grade U.S. 
dollar-denominated corporate bonds publicly issued in the U.S. domestic market. Wilshire REIT index measures U.S. publicly 
traded Real Estate Investment Trusts. The unmanaged  Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond Index is generally representative of 
the U.S. taxable bond market as a whole. The ICE BofA 1-3 Year U.S. Corporate & Government Index tracks the bond 
performance of the ICE BofA U.S. Corporate & Government Index, with a remaining term to final maturity less than 3 years. 
The unmanaged FTSE 1-Month U.S. Treasury Bill Index tracks the yield of the 1-month U.S. Treasury Bill. 
HighMark Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) is an investment adviser registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission and a subsidiary of U.S. Bank National Association ("U.S. Bank"). U.S. Bank is a separate entity and subsidiary 
of U.S. Bancorp. U.S. Bank is not responsible for and does not guarantee the products, services or performance of HighMark. 
HighMark manages institutional separate account portfolios for a wide variety of for-profit and nonprofit organizations, public 
agencies, and public and private retirement plans. Individual account management and construction will vary depending on 
each client's investment needs and objectives. U.S. Bank provides certain services to HighMark and is compensated for 
these services. Investments employing HighMark strategies are NOT insured by the FDIC or by any other Federal 
Government Agency, are NOT Bank deposits, are NOT guaranteed by the Bank or any Bank affiliate, and MAY lose 
value, including possible loss of principal.

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104
800.582.4734
www.highmarkcapital.com

HOLDINGS

STYLE
Small Cap

7.9%

Interm-Term Bond
34.3%

Mortgage Backed Securities
3.3%Large Cap Core

17.8%

Large Cap Growth
6.5%

Mid Cap
6.5%

Intl Stocks
11.1%

Cash
3.3%

Large Cap Value
7.5%

Real Estate
1.8%

Holdings are subject to change at the 
discretion of the investment manager.

HighMark Plus (Active) Index Plus (Passive)
Columbia Contrarian Core I3 iShares Core S&P 500 ETF
Vanguard Growth & Income Adm iShares S&P 500 Value ETF
Dodge & Cox Stock Fund iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF
iShares S&P 500 Value ETF iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF
Harbor Capital Appreciation - Retirement Vanguard Real Estate ETF
iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF iShares Russell 2000 Value ETF
iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF iShares Russell 2000 Growth ETF
Vanguard Real Estate ETF iShares Core MSCI EAFE ETF
Undiscovered Managers Behavioral Value-R6 Vanguard FTSE Emerging Markets ETF
Emerald Growth Fund-I iShares MBS ETF
DFA Large Cap International Portfolio iShares Core U.S. Aggregate
Dodge & Cox International Stock First American Government Obligations Z
MFS International Growth - R6
Hartford Schroders Emerging Markets Eq
iShares MBS ETF
Dodge & Cox Income-I
PGIM Total Return Bond - R6
DoubleLine Core Fixed Income - I
First American Government Obligations Z



For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures 

PARS DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIOS
CAPITAL APPRECIATION

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE

ANNUAL RETURNS

ASSET ALLOCATION — CAPITAL APPRECIATION PORTFOLIO

Comprehensive Investment Solution
HighMark® Capital Management, Inc.’s (HighMark)
diversified investment portfolios are designed to
balance return expectations with risk tolerance.
Key features include: sophisticated asset allocation
and optimization techniques, four layers of 
diversification (asset class, style, manager, and
security), access to rigorously screened, top tier
money managers, flexible investment options, and
experienced investment management.

Rigorous Manager Due Diligence
Our manager review committee utilizes a rigorous
screening process that searches for investment
managers and styles that have not only produced
above-average returns within acceptable risk 
parameters, but have the resources and commitment 
to continue to deliver these results. We have set high 
standards for our investment managers and funds. 
This is a highly specialized, time consuming 
approach dedicated to one goal: competitive and 
consistent performance.

Flexible Investment Options
In order to meet the unique needs of our clients,
we offer access to flexible implementation strategies: 
HighMark Plus utilizes actively managed mutual 
funds while Index Plus utilizes index-based 
securities, including exchange-traded funds. Both 
investment options leverage HighMark’s active asset 
allocation approach.

Risk Management
The portfolio is constructed to control risk through 
four layers of diversification – asset classes (cash, 
fixed income, equity), investment styles (large cap, 
small cap, international, value, growth), managers 
and securities. Disciplined mutual fund selection and 
monitoring process helps to drive return potential 
while reducing portfolio risk.

WHY THE PARS DIVERSIFIED 
CAPITAL APPRECIATION PORTFOLIO?

Q4 2023

* Returns less than one year are not annualized. **Breakdown for Blended Benchmark: 39.5% S&P500, 7.5% Russell Mid Cap, 
10.5% Russell 2000, 5.25% MSCI EM (net), 10.25% MSCI EAFE (net), 16% Bloomberg US Agg, 3% ICE BofA 1-3 Yr US 
Corp/Gov’t, 1% ICE BofA US High Yield Master II, 2% Wilshire REIT, and 5% FTSE 1 Mth US T-Bill. 

To provide growth of principal.  
The major portion of the assets 
are invested in equity securities 
and market fluctuations are 
expected.

Strategic Range Policy Tactical
Equity 65 - 85% 75% 74%
Fixed Income 10 - 30% 20% 22%
Cash 0 - 20% 5% 4%

ANNUALIZED TOTAL RETURNS (Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of 
Embedded Fund Fees)

Consolidated Composite
Gross Net

Current Quarter* 10.40% 10.30%
Blended Benchmark*,** 10.22%
Year To Date* 17.32% 16.91%
Blended Benchmark*,** 17.62%
1 Year 17.32% 16.91%
Blended Benchmark** 17.62%
3 Year 4.22% 3.84%
Blended Benchmark** 4.74%
5 Year 9.71% 9.32%
Blended Benchmark** 10.05%
10 Year 7.23% 6.85%
Blended Benchmark** 7.64%

PORTFOLIO FACTS
Consolidated Composite
Composite Inception Date 01/2009
No of Holdings in Portfolio 19

Efficient Frontier

Risk (Standard Deviation)

R
ew

ar
d 

(R
at

e 
of

 R
et

ur
n)

Conservative

Moderately Conservative

Moderate

Capital Appreciation
Balanced

(Gross of Investment Management Fees, but Net of Embedded 
Fund Fees)

Consolidated Composite
2008 N/A
2009 23.77%
2010 12.95%
2011 -1.35%
2012 13.87%
2013 20.33%
2014 6.05%
2015 -0.26%
2016 8.79%
2017 16.72%
2018 -5.82%
2019 22.62%
2020 14.50%
2021 14.96%
2022 -16.08%
2023 17.32%



HIGHMARK CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104 
800-582-4734

ABOUT THE ADVISER
HighMark® Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) has 
over 100 years (including predecessor organizations) of 
institutional money management experience with $9.2
billion in assets under management*. HighMark has a 
long term disciplined approach to money management 
and currently manages assets for a wide array of 
clients.

ABOUT THE PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT TEAM

Andrew Brown, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1994
HighMark Tenure: since 1997
Education: MBA, University of Southern California; 
BA, University of Southern California

Salvatore “Tory” Milazzo III, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 2004
HighMark Tenure: since 2014
Education: BA, Colgate University

J. Keith Stribling, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1985
HighMark Tenure: since 1995
Education: BA, Stetson University 

Christiane Tsuda
Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2010
Education: BA, International Christian University, Tokyo

Anne Wimmer, CFA®

Senior Portfolio Manager
Investment Experience: since 1987
HighMark Tenure: since 2007
Education: BA, University of California, Santa Barbara

Asset Allocation Committee
Number of Members: 10
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 18

Manager Review Group
Number of Members: 3
Average Years of Experience: 29
Average Tenure (Years): 13

*Assets under management (“AUM”) include assets for which 
HighMark provides continuous and regular supervisory and 
management services. As of 6/1/2023 HighMark previously 
listed Assets under Advisement (“AUA”) are no longer advised 
by HighMark. 

For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only | See Important Disclosures 

The performance records shown represent a size-weighted composite of tax exempt accounts that meet the following 
criteria: Accounts are managed by HighMark with full investment authority according to the PARS Capital Appreciation 
active and passive objectives.
The adviser to the PARS portfolios is U.S. Bank, and HighMark serves as sub-adviser to U.S. Bank to manage these 
portfolios. U.S. Bank may charge clients as much as 0.60% annual management fee based on a sliding scale. U.S. Bank 
pays HighMark 60% of the annual management fee for assets sub-advised by HighMark under its sub-advisory agreement 
with U.S. Bank. The 0.36% paid to HighMark, as well as other expenses that may be incurred in the management of the 
portfolio, will reduce the portfolio’s returns. Assuming an investment for five years, a 5% annual total return, and an annual 
sub-advisory fee rate of 0.36% deducted from the assets at market at the end of each year, a $10 million initial value would 
grow to $12.53 million after fees (Net-of-Fees) and $12.76 million before fees (Gross-of-Fees). Gross returns are presented 
before management and custodial fees but after all trading expenses and reflect the reinvestment of dividends and other 
income. A client's return will be reduced by the advisory fees and other expenses it may incur as a client. Additional 
information regarding the firm’s policies and procedures for calculating and reporting performance results is available upon 
request. Performance results are calculated and presented in U.S. dollars and do not reflect the deduction of investment 
advisory fees, custody fees, or taxes but do reflect the deduction of trading expenses. Returns are calculated based on 
trade-date accounting.
Blended benchmarks represent HighMark’s strategic allocations between equity, fixed income, and cash and are 
rebalanced monthly. Benchmark returns do not reflect the deduction of advisory fees or other expenses of investing but 
assumes the reinvestment of dividends and other earnings. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. The unmanaged 
S&P 500 Index is representative of the performance of large companies in the U.S. stock market. The MSCI EAFE Index is 
a free float-adjusted market capitalization index designed to measure developed market equity performance, excluding the 
U.S. and Canada. The MSCI Emerging Markets Index is a free float-adjusted market capitalization index that is designed to 
measure equity market performance in the global emerging markets. The Russell Midcap Index measures the performance 
of the mid-cap segment of the U.S. equity universe. The Russell 2000 Index measures the performance of the small-cap 
segment of the U.S. equity universe. The ICE BofA U.S. High Yield Master II Index tracks the performance of below 
investment grade U.S. dollar-denominated corporate bonds publicly issued in the U.S. domestic market. Wilshire REIT 
index measures U.S. publicly traded Real Estate Investment Trusts. The unmanaged  Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond 
Index is generally representative of the U.S. taxable bond market as a whole. The ICE BofA 1-3 Year U.S. Corporate & 
Government Index tracks the bond performance of the ICE BofA U.S. Corporate & Government Index, with a remaining term 
to final maturity less than 3 years. The unmanaged FTSE 1-Month U.S. Treasury Bill Index tracks the yield of the 1-month 
U.S. Treasury Bill. 
HighMark Capital Management, Inc. (HighMark) is an investment adviser registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission and a subsidiary of U.S. Bank National Association ("U.S. Bank"). U.S. Bank is a separate entity and subsidiary 
of U.S. Bancorp. U.S. Bank is not responsible for and does not guarantee the products, services or performance of 
HighMark. HighMark manages institutional separate account portfolios for a wide variety of for-profit and nonprofit 
organizations, public agencies, and public and private retirement plans. Individual account management and construction 
will vary depending on each client's investment needs and objectives. U.S. Bank provides certain services to HighMark and 
is compensated for these services. Investments employing HighMark strategies are NOT insured by the FDIC or by 
any other Federal Government Agency, are NOT Bank deposits, are NOT guaranteed by the Bank or any Bank 
affiliate, and MAY lose value, including possible loss of principal.

350 California Street
Suite 1600
San Francisco, CA 94104
800.582.4734
www.highmarkcapital.com

HOLDINGS

STYLE
Small Cap

9.6%

Interm-Term Bond
20.3%

Mortgage Backed 
Securities

2.0%

Large Cap Core
22.3%

Large Cap Growth
8.0%

Mid Cap
8.0%

Intl Stocks
14.6%

Cash
3.9%

Large Cap Value
9.2%

Real Estate
2.1%

Holdings are subject to change at the 
discretion of the investment manager.

HighMark Plus (Active) Index Plus (Passive)
Columbia Contrarian Core I3 iShares Core S&P 500 ETF
Vanguard Growth & Income Adm iShares S&P 500 Value ETF
Dodge & Cox Stock Fund iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF
iShares S&P 500 Value ETF iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF
Harbor Capital Appreciation - Retirement Vanguard Real Estate ETF
iShares S&P 500 Growth ETF iShares Russell 2000 Value ETF
iShares Russell Mid-Cap ETF iShares Russell 2000 Growth ETF
Vanguard Real Estate ETF iShares Core MSCI EAFE ETF
Undiscovered Managers Behavioral Value-R6 Vanguard FTSE Emerging Markets ETF
Emerald Growth Fund-I iShares MBS ETF
DFA Large Cap International Portfolio iShares Core U.S. Aggregate
Dodge & Cox International Stock First American Government Obligations Z
MFS International Growth - R6
Hartford Schroders Emerging Markets Eq
iShares MBS ETF
Dodge & Cox Income-I
PGIM Total Return Bond - R6
DoubleLine Core Fixed Income - I
First American Government Obligations Z



Steps to implementation 1

Steps to Implementation

1 Board adopts resolution authorizing County to join PARS Combo Trust and appoints 
Plan Administrator (PA)

2 County sends signed copy of resolution to PARS

3 PARS sends set of signature-ready documents to County

4 PARS coordinates meeting with County and Investment Manager to discuss 
investment options and select strategy

5 County signs documents and returns to PARS

6 PARS works with Trustee/U.S. Bank to establish account

7 PARS notifies County account is ready and includes Contribution Instructions

8 County will send Directive to transfer OPEB assets to OPEB account within Combo 
Trust

9 County makes Contribution using Transmittal Form

10 PARS and Investment Manager conduct annual reviews (unless more frequently 
desired)

#8: for prospects already 
prefunding OPEB; otherwise, 



Laws

• APN: 010-250-03  Laws Museum



j.J ,"L'-i.,-, '7 t i,,.'

I, HEREBY CERTIFY, that at a meeting of the Board of Supervisor of the County of Inyo, State of California,

held in their rooms at the County Administrative Center in Independence on theX dayof AUGUST,2007 an order was duly
t4+h

made and entered as follows:

In the Rooms of the Board of Superaisors
County of Inyo, State of California

The County Administrator noted that County Counsel had entitled the policy the Real property
Management Policy and the Agenda referenced the working title of Surplus Land Policy, and asted that
if adopted the policy be titled the "Real Property Management Policy." The County Administrator briefly
described the procedure and noted that if adopted the Policy would require an inventory of County
owned property, which he intends to conduct as soon as possible. Moved by Supervisoi Brown and
seconded by Supervisor Cash to approve the "Real Propertv Manaqement Policv." Motion carried
unanimously.

I,\ITNESS my hand and the seat of said Board this X I4+h

Days of _AUGUST 2007

CAO/Surplus Land
Policy

* i:':

Routing

Personnel
Atdilnr

cAo Y
Othet-De{-Heads--_=-

DATE: August 22,2007

RONALD JULIFF
Clerk of the Board of Supemisors

By

P atric ia Guns o I ley, As s is tant



AGENDA REQUEST FORM
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

COIJ.]IITY OF INYO

n Consent n Departmental flConespondence Action

tr Scneduled Time for f] Closed Session

For Clerk's Use anly:
AGENDA NUMBER

lo
f, Puotic Hearing

fl lnformational

FROM: Ron Juliff, County Administrator

FOR THE BOARD MEETTNG OF: August 14, 1007

SUBJECT: Approval of the

DEPARTMENTAL RECOMMENDATION: - Request approvalof the Surplus Land Policv.

SUMMARY DISCUSSION: Your Board tasked the Financial Advisory Committee (FAC) with the development of a
policy whereby the County would manage its land holdings. This policy provides the mechanism whereby the County
owned lands are reviewed to determine whether there is any public benefiVpolicy reason to continue to hold land and/or
dispose of property. ln earlier discussions your Board expressed a desire to have the Surplus Land Policy identify
County owned property and where it is located, provide a process to assess the cost of developing the property, identify
the short and longterm uses of the property, and ascertain the potential marketability of the property. Thls policy calls for
such an inventory to be conducted every three years by the CAO. However, it does not preclude the County from
identifying a sale/lease or exchange candidate as the need arises outside of the tri-annual inventory. The policy
establishes the process whereby land would be retained or disposed of once the appropriate appraisals and
assessments have been concluded. This policy provides a consistent method of evaluating County owned lands and
provides the process of determining the benefit to the County of holding, trading and/or selling Couniy owned lands. .

ALTERNATIWS: - Your Board could change the policy. Staff awaits your Board's direction

OTHER AGENCY INVOLWMENT: - NIA

FINANCING: There is no fiscal impact associated with adopting this policy. The fiscal benefit is associated with the
identification and assessment of County owned lands.

DEPARTMENT HEAD SIGNATURE:
(Not to be signed until all approvals are

COUNTY COUNSEL: AGREEMENTS, CONTMCTS AND ORDINANCES AND CLOSED SESSION AND RELATED ITEMS (Must be
reviewed and approved by county counsel pior to submissrbn to the board clerk.)

Approved: Date_
AUDITOFYCONTROLLER ACCOUNTING/FINANCE AND RELATED ITEMS (Musf be reviewed and approved by the auditor-controtler pior to

submission to the board cle*.)

Approvbd:_Date_

PERSONNEL DIRECTOR: PERSONNEL AND RELATED ITEMS (Must be reviewed and approved by the director of personnel services prior to
submission to the board clerk.)

ApproVed:_Date_

APPROVAT,S

(The Original ph.is 20 copies of this document are

*t4".;'

08-14-07



INYO COUNTY
REAL PROPERTY MANAGEMENT POLICY

Table of Contents

L General Provisions
A. Furpose
B. Prohibition of Interest in the Disposition of Surplus Property

II. Policy Statement

III. Compliance with Law..
A. Compliance to State Law
B. Means of Disposal
C. Sale to Public Entity
D. SaIe by Competitive Sealed Bid
E. Sale by Public Auction
F. Sale or Lease by Request for Proposals

IV. Exchange, Disposal, or Lease of Surplus Real Properry.. . ..
A. Identification of Potential Surplus Property
B. Manner of Disposal of Surplus Property
C. Use of Proceeds
D. Property Research Prior to Exchange, Disposal or Lease
E. Other Provisions of Sale

V. Acquisition of Real Properfy...

VI. Definitions of Terms

Attachment A: summary of State Laws Governing the Exchange, Disposal or
Lease of Inyo County Property

Page

..2

.,

2

5

9

9



nryo COLINTY
REAL PROPERTY MANAGEMENT POLICY

I. GEIYERAL PROVISIONS

A. Purpose

The intent and purpose of this Policy ("Policy") is to establish uniform principles
to guide actions by the Inyo County Board of Supervisors ("Board") related to the
managemenq disposition and sale of County-owned Real Property, and the
acquisition thereof. The Policy sets forth the process to be used in determining
whether County-owned Real Property is surplus to County needs and whether
such property should be sold, exchanged, leased, or developed through a Request
For Proposal (RFP) process. The Policy also establishes the procedures to be used
in the process of selling, exchanging, developing through RFP, or leasing of
County-owned Real Property.

B. Prohibition of Interest in the Disposition of Surplus Property

Inyo county employees, representatives, consultants, and agents shall comply
with all applicable County and State conflict of interest laws and policies in the
disposition of surplus proper{y,

II. POLICY STATEMENT

over many years the County of Inyo (County) has obtained various parcels of
land that may not be required or suitable for the public's benefit. If the County
subsequently determines that a property/properties are no longer required for a
public purpose, it may sell, exchange, develop using the MP-process provided for
by law, or lease such real property or interest therein in the manner and upon the
terms, standards, and conditions established herein and approved by the Inyo
County Board of Supervisors. All sales of property will be made in exchange for
payment in cash; exchange for other lands that may be used for a public pu{pose;
or, other value as determined by the Board. The Board will obtain appraised fair
market value for any surplus real property offered for sale, except that less than
fair market value may be accepted if it is determined to be in the County's best
interest by the Board to sell the property for a negotiated amount that is
subsequently approved by the Board by 4/5's vote.

uI. CoMPLIAIYCE WITH LAW ;."

A. The disposal of surplus property, and the acquisition of real property shall be
in accordance with all laws that are in existence at thd time of disposal or
acquisition.

2



B. Properties that have been determined to be surplus to the County by the Board
may be disposed of according to state law, which is summarized in
Attachment A.

C. Sale to Public Entity

First consideration for properties determined to be surplus to the County shall be
sold or haded to another public entity for public pulposes in accordance with
Government Code $$ 54220 et seq. Prior to disposing of any potential surplus real
property, a written offer will be made to sell or lease the property to public
agencies for the purpose of developing low and moderate income housing, parks
and recreational facilities, schools, or other public purposes. The offer to sell or
lease the property to a public entity will be exclusive for a period of sixfy (60)
days. In the event more than one public entity responds, first priority shall be
given to the public entity which agrees to use the site for low to moderate income
housing, except that first priority shall be given to a public entity which agrees to
use the site for park or recreational purposes if the surplus property is already
being used and will continue to be used for park or recreational purposes, or if the
surplus property is designated for park and recreational use in the local general
plan and will be developed for that purpose. The next priority will be given to the
public entity that makes the first offer to puchase the property for fair market
value as established by the Board.

D. Sale by Competitive Sealed Bid

If no public entity accepts the County's offer to sell or lease the surplus property
within sixty (60) days, then the County may, at its sole discretion, dispose of the
property to the general public by sealed bid in the manner prescribed in
Government Code $$ 25520, 25521,25528,25530,25531,25533 and 25534 et
seq. These sections provide for sealed bids, require the County to provide
additional notice of the sale to the public through posting and advertising, allow
the Board to reject any proposal and withdraw the property from sale, and allow
for oral bids to be received at the public meeting provided that any oral bid be five
percent higher than the highest written bid.

E. Sale by Public Auction

The County may also diqpose 9f proaerty to the general public by public auction
and in the manner piescribed in Govemment Code $ 25363 et seq.-This method
authorizes the sale of property and requires that the sale be made at the courthouse
door or such other place as the Board directs by four-fiSbs vote, with notice of the
sale given five days prior, and published in a newspapef in ttre County or posted
in three public places, and provided that notification has been made to those
public agencies identified in Government Code'g 5422}ut seq.

3



Each person submitting a proposal to purchase a property by sealed bid or public
auction must submit a deposit of ten percent (10%) of the offered price at the time
his or her proposal is submitted.

F. SaIe or Lease by Request for Proposals

The Board may elect to sell surplus property via the Request for Proposals (PSP)
method as prescribed in Article 7.5, commencing within $ 25515 of Chapter 5 of
Part2 of Division 2 of Title 3 of the Government Code.

The Board would direct the County staffto prepare an RFP for sale and
development of surplus property in a manner consistent with the county zorung
Ordinance and the County's General Plan.

Upon expiration of the time during which public entities may offer to purchase
the property, and assuming no sale of the property to any such entity is made,
County staffwill return to the Board with the proposed RFP for its consideration.
If approved, the Board will, by a 4/5ths vote, approve the issuance of the RFP.

The Board will adopt a resolution which, in addition to describing the particulars
of the property and the County's vision for its development, will set a place, time
and date for a hearing, to be held at least 60 days later, at which the Board will
consider all timely responses to the RFP. That resolution, containing the
directions on how interested persons could respond to the RFP, must be published
in the newspaper once a week for three successive weeks.

After the mandatory 60-day period for receiving resporuies to the RFP expires,
County staff will review all timely responses to the RFP and prepare a
recornmendation for consideration by the County Financial Advisory Committee
("Committee") and/or the Board.

At the place, date and at the time set forth in the above-described resolution for
the Board's consideration of them, the Board will review the responses to the RFP
and staffs recommendations. The Board will then select a successful respondent
and direct staff and the successful respondent to meet and negotiate a final
a:rangement for the sale of the property and its subsequent development by that
respondent.

Additionally, the Board will direct the preparation of a California Environmental
Quatity Act (CEQA) analysis of any necessary general plan amendment and zone
change that, if approved, would allow the uses on the p{gperty contemplated in
the RFP. The Inyo County Planning Department will, as directed by the Board,
cornmence the CEQA review process for the above-described general plan
amendment and zone change. *''

Following the GEQA process and review period, the Inyo county planning
Commission ("Commissicn") will consider the CEQA fucument concerning the

4



propos€d general plan amendment and zone change, and will consider
recommending approval of those amendments and consider recommending
certification of the CEQA document. The Commission will also consider making
the finding required by Government Code $$ 25515.1(a) and 65402 that the
proposed development of the property is consistent with the County's general
plan.

Once a final arrangement is worked out with the successful respondent, it must be
memorialized in the form of an ordinance. The ordinance will be scheduled for
consideration by the Board at the fust reading noticed in accordance with
Govemment Code $ 6066, which requires the advertisement to run once a week
for two weeks.

If the Board approves the proposed arrangement for the sale and development of
property, it will adopt the ordinance at a subsequent public hearing. The ordinance
and the agreement will not go into effect for 30 days, during which time it could
be challenged via acitrzenreferendum. During this 30-day period, County staff
will prepare all documents, and make the arrangements necessary to consummate
the sale and ensure that the property will be used in accordance with the RFP and
the approving ordinance; this will include retaining a title company to prepare a
title report, opening escrow, and preparing the deed that will be used to transfer
title to the property

Once the 30 day referendum period expires, the sale of the property will be
consummated (i.e./e.g. the purchase price will be paid to the County or deposited
into the escrow, the deed will be signed and recorded, any agreements respecting
the use/development of the property will be signed, etc.).

Thereafter, the Planning Director will monitor the development and use of the
property to ensure that the terms of the sale and development agreement are
adhered to. This would carry on indefinitely, or if the restrictions on the use of the
property are of limited duration, until that time expires.

If the surplus property is not subsequentty sold as a result of the sealed bid, public
auction or RFP process, the property may be sold to the party who makes the
highest reasonable offer to purchase the property that is acceptable to the Board.

IV. EXCIIANGE, DISPOSAL, OR LEASE OF SURPLUS REAL PROPERTY

Corurty properfy for which there is not an immediate or foreseeable public
pqpose should be made available for private ownership.. ^For the purposes of this
Policy, public purpose will be determined by the Board iiiaccordance with the
1aw.

A. Identification of Potential Surplus Property

.;4+{:

5



I To facilitate the identification of Corurty property for which there
is not an immediate or foreseeable public purpose, no less
frequently than once every three years the County shall review its
inventory of real property and identiff holdings that could be
designated as surplus property.

The review identified in Section IV.A.l. shall be initiated by the
County Administative Officer (CAO) in consultation with, and
assistance from other County departnents. The CAO shall prepare
an inventory of all real property owned by the County, consistent
with the requirement of Section IV.A.3., and present the inventory
to the Committee for review and recommendation to the Board.

The inventory of County-owned property shall include the
Assessor's Parcel Number, legal description and a map showing
the location of the property and a description of its current use. If
available, the most recent appraised fair market value of the
property, as well any indication of the County's water and/or
mineral rights, should be identified in the inventory. The inventory
should identiff those properties for which there is a current or
foreseeable public pulpose, and those properties recommended for
consideration as surplus. In addition, the CAO may, in preparing
the inventory, make recommendations relative to the manner in
which the property should be disposed.

The Committee shall review the inventory and make
recommendations to the Board regarding County-owned property
that could be designated as surplus, whether mineral and water
rights should be retained, and the manner in which the surplus
property should be disposed. In the event the Committee does not
reach a unanimous recommendation, both the majority and
minority Committee recommendations may be forwarded to the
Board. Any recommendation forwarded to the Board shall include
with the list a checklist, developed by the Committee, which
includes the reasons for the Committee's recommendation for
exchange, sale or lease of County owned property. The checklist,
at a minimum, will include access considerations, infrastructure
availqbility, community need, financial return to the County,
potential highest ana biJt use, and land use designations.

The Board shall consider the inventory o.f County-owned property,
and the Committee's recommendations for the designation of
surplus property and the manner of disposal at a public meeting
duly noticed by advertisement in a locafnewspaper once a week
for two weeks.

2

3

4.

5

6

u$."



The Board, Committee, or County staffmay initiate the
consideration of the designation of a specific County-owned
property as surplus property independent of the inventory process
described herein provided that all other provisions of this Policy
are implemented.

B. Manner of Disposal of Surplus Prope4y

In determining the manner in which surplus property might be disposed, the
Committee and the Board shall consider the following:

The manner of disposal that will maximize the financial return to
the County. In evaluating financial return to the County, the
financial return generated from the outright sale of the property
shall be weighed against the cost of acquiring land and/or facilities,
using the methods described in Section ry. B. 2. and 3. below, to
meet apublic purpose.

The possibility of exchanging the County-owned property for real
property owned by other public agencies and private parties for a
public purpose.

Opportunities to use the Request For Proposal process, described
in Section III. F., to meet a public purpose through the sale or lease
of property to private interests.

County-owned real property for which there is a possible future
public purpose should be leased in a manner that provides the
highest and best use of the land and maximizes the financial return
to the County. Any lease will include at a minimum a standard
escalation clause pertaining to the lease payment and terms for
renegotiations.

C. Use of Proceeds

Proceeds rcalized from the sale of County-owned property disposed in accordance
with this Policy shall be used to fimd one-time costs associated with the
acquisition of real property for a
maintenance of County property at

D. Property Research Prior to Exchange, Disposal or Lease

6.

I

2.

J

4.

leased properties), and other capital improvement projects. Proceeds realized from
the sale of County-owned real proper{y disposed in accgr.4ance with this Policy
shall not be used to fund on-going County operating exiibirse.

-.$F

7



Subsequent to the Board's designation of County-owned real property as surplus,
and prior to the disposal or lease of any County-owned surplus real property, the
County shall do the following:

Determine actual title to the property/properties and whether the
subject property/properties hold water and mineral rights;

Detennine actual fair market value of the subject
property/properties by independent appraisal;

Solicit other affected County Departrnents for comments to the
exchange, sale, or lease ofsurplus property;

Identiff the Zoning and determine General Plan conformance of
the subj ect property/properties;

Identiff whether subject property/properties are within an Alquist
Priolo Study areq Flood HazardZone, Avalanche Zone, etc.

E. Other Provisions of Sale

In order to marimize the financial return to the County from the sale, exchange,
disposal through MP-process, or lease of County-owned surplus land in a manner
consistent with law:

Parcels will be exchanged, sold or leased on an "As Is Where Is"
basis.

The minimum price established for a parcel shall include the
appraised value plus all County costs to dispose of the property

The Board will reserve the right to reject all offers at its sole
discretion for the sale, exchange, purchase, development, or lease
of any surplus property.

The Board will reserve the right to cancel, for any reason
whatsoever, any exchange, sale or lease of any parcel prior to the
conveyance of title.

The Board will reserve the right to place covenants, conditions, or
restrictions on the deed for any parcel aq a$owed by law.

The Board reserves the right at its sole discretion to approve or
reject such a tansaction based upon its dttermination of the
prospective hansferee's ability, including but not limited to the

I

2.

3

4.

5

I

2.

3

4

5

6

8



financial ability, to perform as contemplated under the terms of the
transaction.

v. ACQITTSITION OF REAL PROPERTY

A. The County may acquire real property, consistent with the provisions of state
law to meet an identified or foreseeable public need. This includes the
acquisition of ta:<-defaulted property by Agreement of Sale as legally defined.

B. The county may object to the sale of the ta,x-defaulted property and apply to
purchase the property for the express purpose of facilitating a land exchange to
meet a public need including, for the purpose of this sectiorL increasing the
amount of privately-ownedproperty near existing communities and town sites.
If the County acquires a tardefaulted properfy for the purpose of facilitating a
land exchange, and the land exchange process has not formally commenced
within two-years of the date of the County taking title to the property, the Board
shall take immediate steps to dispose of the property in accordance with this
Policy unless a finding is made that the property seryes an immediate public
prqpose or the initiation of a land exchange is imminent.

c. The county shall not acquire real property for the sole purpose of land
speculation (e.g., acquiring land for the sole purpose of selling it for a profit).

DEF'INITION OF'TERMS

Appraised value - The monetary value of the county owned property as
determined by the County, which may be based on the fair market value of the
property as determined by an MAI appraiser employed by the Cor.rnty to make
such determination.
ooCash" 

- U.S. currency, Bank Cashier's Check in dollars, or Electronic Funds
Transfer in dollars.
"Fair Market value" - The price that would be paid by a knowledgeable and
informed buyer if the property was sold on the open market.
"Proceeds of sale" - The monetary amount received by the county from the
disposition of a piece of real property net of the costs incured by the County to
dispose of the property.
"Public Entity" - As referenced in Section 54222 of the Government Code and as
further defined in Section 50a79 of the california Health and safety code;
includes any: county; city; duly constituted goveming body of an Indian
reservation; redevelopment agency or housing authority, as specifically defined;
state agency; public district; other political subdivision sf,.the state, or
instrumentality thereof which is authorized to engage in or assist in the
development or operation of housing for persons and families of low or moderate

"Real Property" - county owned fee simple parcels of land, mineral and water
rights and County owned improvements therion.

YI

o

a

o

a

9

o



b.

ATTACHMENT A

Summarv of State Laws Governing the Exchanse. Disposal or Lease of Inyo County
Prooerty

The exchange, disposal or lease of those properties that have been determined to be
surplus by the Inyo County Board of Supervisors @oard), or not needed for a public
purpose or luie, may be disposed of by any of the following 6gansl

a. Directly to a public entity at their request without providing notice to other
agencies or calling for a competitive bid at a price representing fair market value
and upon detennination that the public entity's use shall be for low to moderate
income housing purposes as described in Government code $ 54220 er seq.

Directly to a public entity in accordance with Government Code g 25515.1 (a) et
seq., which requires notification to those public agencies described in
Govemment Code S 54220 et seq. offering the property for sale or tade.

California Government Code S 54220 et seq. requires surplus government land to
be first made available for housing for persons and families of low and moderate
income or recreational or open space purposes. Surplus government land means
land owned by an entity of the state, or any local entity that is determined to be no
longer necessary for the entity's use.

c. Directly to the Public in the manner prescribed in Government Code $ 25363 et
seq., which authorizes the sale of property at public auction. Requiring that the
sale be made at the courthouse door or such other place within the County as the
Board directs by four-fifths vote, with notice of the sale given five days prior, and
published in a newspaper in the cor:nty or posted in three public places, and
provided that notification has been made to those public agencies identified in
Govemment Code 5 54220 et seq.

Directly to the Public in the manner prescribed in Government Code gg 25520,
25521,25528,25530,25531,25533 and25534 et seq. These sections provide for
sealed bids, require the County to provide additional notice of the sale to the
public through posting and advertising, allow the Board to reject any proposal and
withdraw the properly from sale, and allow for oral bids to be received atthe
public meeting provided that any oral bid be five percent higher than the highest
written bid.

e. Directly to the Public through the preparation of an RFp for its sale andlor
development in accordance with Article 7.5, commencing within $ 25515 of
chapter 5 of Part 2 of Division 2 of ritle 3 of the Government code.

The sales price of any surplus real property will be bascd on thJ appraised fair rnarket
value. Less than appraised fair market value may be accepted if it is determined to be in

d.

l0



,r i

the County's best interest to sell the property for a negotiated amount that is subsequently
approved by the Inyo County Board of Supervisors by 4/5's vote.

iC :RealPropertyManagementPolicy/LandlloldingPolicy.Final 50807

".'.,i.F{

ll

tr!


	10 Steps to Implementation (County).pdf
	Slide 1: Steps to Implementation

	Investment Selection (PFMAM).pdf
	Investment Selection form
	Establish: Determine your Strategic Asset Allocation Strategy
	Asset Allocation Summary
	PARS Diversified Portfolios
	OPEB Strategy Allocation – Clients 
	PRSP Strategy Allocation – Clients 


